University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Master's Theses and Capstones

Student Scholarship

Summer 2022

ASSOCIATIONS OF SHORT AND MEDIUM CHAIN SATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND DAIRY WITH COGNITIVE FUNCTIONING IN THE BOSTON PUERTO RICAN HEALTH STUDY

Sophie M. Kenny University of New Hampshire

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis

Recommended Citation

Kenny, Sophie M., "ASSOCIATIONS OF SHORT AND MEDIUM CHAIN SATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND DAIRY WITH COGNITIVE FUNCTIONING IN THE BOSTON PUERTO RICAN HEALTH STUDY" (2022). *Master's Theses and Capstones.* 1624. https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis/1624

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses and Capstones by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact Scholarly.Communication@unh.edu.

ASSOCATIONS OF SHORT AND MEDIUM CHAIN SATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND DAIRY WITH COGNITIVE FUNCTION IN THE BOSTON PUERTO RICAN HEALTH STUDY

BY

SOPHIE M. KENNY

BS, University of New Hampshire, 2019

THESIS

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in

Nutritional Sciences

September 2022

This thesis was examined and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences by:

Thesis Director, Sherman Bigornia, Assistant Professor, Agriculture, Nutrition and Food Systems

Semra Aytur, Associate Professor, Health Management & Policy

Tammy Scott, Research Assistant Professor, Tufts University Friedman School of Nutrition Science and Policy, Tufts University School of Medicine/ Tufts Medical Center Department of Psychiatry

On July 29, 2022

Approval signatures are on file with the University of New Hampshire Graduate School.

Acknowledgments

I am overwhelmed with gratitude for all of the professors, family, friends, peers, and dogs who have supported me in numerous ways to complete my master's degree.

Thank you to my thesis advisor, Dr. Sherman Bigornia, for always asking me the hard questions that have made me a better student, researcher, and nutrition professional. I am so appreciative for all of your patience throughout the many learning curves I have navigated as a graduate student. Thank you for helping me understand nutritional epidemiology, improve my writing and presentation skills, and for holding me to a standard that I never would have thought possible for myself.

I would also like to thank my committee members. Dr. Semra Aytur, thank you for your numerous SAS references that you have provided me and all of the Zoom calls and email exchanges to understand the complexity of statistical analyses. Thank you for helping me get my foot in the door at the Institute for Health Policy and Practice, as I continue on my career in applied health research. Dr. Tammy Scott, thank you for your feedback in regard to cognition, the brain, and so many specificities of the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. I am so appreciative of you both for your encouragement and support throughout this process.

To the Nutrition Department and ANFS. Thank you all for the past 7 years! Thank you, Jen Surina and Celeste Dietterle, for always being open to answering questions and helping me navigate the second floor of Kendall Hall (including operating the printer!). Thank you, Dr. Dave Mortenson, for all of your thought-provoking questions, presentation feedback, inviting me to be a part of the seminar committee and encouraging me to foster a social environment outside of the office within the graduate students. Kevin Pietro, thank you for inspiring me to continue learning and to follow my curiosity. I am so grateful for beginning my research experience with you and

iii

being able to learn from you as a teaching assistant. You have taught me many important lessons, but two that I will never forget is that it is our responsibility to use all of this nutrition knowledge to help others, and to eat more fruits and vegetables (thank you for coming). Dr. Maggie Dylewski-Begis, thank you for the years of listening to the many iterations of what I wanted to do with my education, and for your consistent support throughout my decision to pursue my master's degree. Dr. Jesse Stabile-Morrell, your commitment and love for the nutrition department is infectious and has inspired myself, as well as many others, to continue to learn and explore the research side of nutrition.

Thank you to my family and friends, without whom I would not have been able to complete this program in one piece. Thank you to my mom, who talked to me every day on my way to and from campus. To my dad, who provided me a tid bit of advice that I may not have wanted to hear, but needed to hear. To my fiancé, Zack, thank you for always celebrating my successes, listening to all of my stress, and of course, for always having the pot of coffee ready for me in the morning. Last but not least, thank you to Layla and Finley, my pups, who have offered me unconditional love and companionship through the past 2 years as a graduate student during this pandemic. They don't always respond, but they always listened.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER	PAGE
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	4
Public Health Concern	4
Short & Medium Chain Saturated Fat & Risk Factors of Cognitive Decline	4
Dairy & Cognitive Decline	10
METHODS	12
Participants	12
Assessment of Dietary Intake	12
Dietary Fatty Acid Pattern	14
Neurocognitive testing	14
Covariates	15
Statistical analyses	16
RESULTS	19
Baseline demographic & dietary data	19
SMCSFA Intake & Cognitive Function	19
Dairy intake & Cognitive Function	20
DISCUSSION	22
LIST OF REFERENCES	32
APENDIX A	45

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic data by dairy and SMCSFA quartile at baseline (n=345)..

Table 2. Dietary data by dairy and SMCSFA quartile at baseline (n=345).

Table 3. Baseline dairy component intake by dairy quartile (s/day) (n=345).

Table 4. Top 10 contributors to total dairy intake at baseline (n=345).

Table 5. Top 10 contributors to SMCSFA intake at baseline (n=345).

Table 6. Individual neurocognitive test means at baseline (n=345).

Table 7. Cross-sectional associations of dairy and SMCSFA with GCS at baseline (n=1292).

Table 8. Cross-sectional analysis of dairy components with GCS at baseline (n=1292).

Table 9. Prospective associations of dairy and SMCSFA with GCS (n=345)

Table 10. Prospective analysis of dairy components with GCS at baseline (n=345).

Supplemental Table 1. Saturated Fatty Acid Chain Length Categorization

Supplemental Table 2. Demographic and dietary covariates comparing participants who were in the final sample versus those who dropped out (n=345).

Supplemental Table 3. Cross-sectional associations of dairy and SMCSFA with individual neurocognitive tests at baseline (1292).

Supplemental Table 4. Prospective analysis of dairy and SMCSFA and GCS at baseline, 2 and 13 years (n=345).

Supplemental Table 5. Prospective substitution of dairy at the expense of red meat with GCS (n=345)

ABSTRACT

ASSOCIATIONS OF SHORT AND MEDIUM CHAIN SATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND DAIRY WITH COGNITIVE FUNCTIONING IN THE BOSTON PUERTO RICAN HEALTH STUDY

By

Sophie M. Kenny

University of New Hampshire

Cognitive decline is a major public health concern. Evidence suggests that Hispanic/Latino adults, specifically Puerto Rican adults, in the US are at a higher risk of developing dementia or cognitive decline due to the high prevalence of risk factors, including cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Emerging evidence suggests that specific dietary fatty acids, short and medium-chain-length saturated fatty acids, that are found in dairy may be beneficial for cognitive function. However, there are limited observational studies examining the effects of SMCSFA and dairy on cognitive function in Hispanic/Latino adults. We examined the crosssectional and prospective associations between SMCSFA and dairy consumption with cognitive function among Puerto Rican adults.

Data were from the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study (57 yrs, 71% female), an ongoing prospective cohort study. Diet was assessed using a validated food frequency questionnaire. Dairy products included milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Our primary exposures were the sum of SMCSFA(%TE), a dietary fatty acid pattern consistent with high SMCSFA, total dairy (s/d), regular & reduced fat dairy (s/d), and nonfat dairy products (s/d). A battery of neurocognitive tests was administered by trained staff in the language of preference. Global cognitive function score (GCS) was calculated as the mean z-scores of the individual tests. A subset of BPRHS participants returned for neurocognitive testing at 13-yr follow-up. We

analyzed SMCSFA in a substitution analysis at the expense of *trans* fats and added sugar. Dairy models were adjusted for total energy, age, sex, physical activity, smoking status, and education. We also conducted a substation analysis of dairy at the expense of red and processed meats. Our cross-sectional analysis was conducted using multivariate linear regression. Our prospective analysis assessed the change over baseline, 2 and 13 years using a mixed effects model with time-covarying covariates.

In the final sample, participants consumed 2.42 s/day of dairy and less than 1% of their diet was derived from SMCSFA. Most dairy was consumed through 2% and whole milk (37%). Most SMCSFA in the diet were derived from cheese (30%) and whole milk (22%). Butter was significantly related to GCS over 13 years of follow-up. There were no significant associations between SMCSFA, total dairy, regular & reduced fat dairy, or nonfat dairy with cognitive function cross-sectionally or prospectively.

In this cohort of Puerto Rican adults, our findings suggest there were no associations between SMCSFA and dairy with cognitive function. Future prospective studies should examine this relationship in a similar population with larger sample sizes and over a longer duration.

INTRODUCTION

Dementia is a major public health concern.^a In the U.S., it is one of the top five leading causes of premature mortality.² An estimated one in nine adults suffer from cognitive decline.³ Cognitive impairment is costly to the individual with medical costs ranging from \$6,000 to over \$100,000 a year and upwards of \$305 billion annually to the United States.⁴⁻⁷ Beyond financial concerns, the World Health Organization (WHO) recognizes that those living with dementia have an impaired quality of life, as well as an increased risk of other cardiometabolic diseases.⁸⁻¹⁰ There is strong interest in dietary fat intake as a modifiable risk factor for cognitive decline because of documented effects on related chronic health conditions, including cardiovascular disease (CVD).¹¹ It is widely recommended to moderate the intake of saturated fat to reduce the risk for heart disease and stroke, however, current evidence on the impact of saturated fat consumption in relation to cognitive function remains inconclusive with reports of adverse and null associations.¹² These results may be partly because previous investigations of saturated fat and cognitive function or dementia, examined total saturated fat consumption rather than considering the individual species that make up the saturated fat class.¹²

Saturated fatty acids (SFA) can be differentiated by the number of carbons that make up the hydrocarbon tail, which include short (<6 carbons), medium (7 to <12 carbons), long (12 to 20 carbons), and very-long (>20 carbons) chain SFA species.¹³ Building evidence from epidemiological and animal studies suggests that short and medium-chain-length SFA may benefit metabolic pathways implicated in cognitive decline, including inflammation and insulin resistance.¹⁴⁻¹⁷ In a recent randomized control trial (RCT), researchers observed improvements

^a Dementia is defined by the Alzheimer's Association as "a group of symptoms associated with a decline in memory, reasoning or other thinking skills" whereas Alzheimer's disease is "a degenerative brain disease that is caused by complex brain changes following cell damage".¹

in insulin resistance among participants when consuming medium-chain SFAs (MCSFA), as compared to long-chain SFAs (LCSFA).¹⁸ In the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Netherlands Cohort, investigators found that over 12 years, there was an association between lower ischemic heart disease and short-chain SFAs (SCSFA) and MCSFA consumption.¹⁹ These included butyric acid (C4), capric acid (C10), pentadecanoic acid (C15), margaric acid (C17), and myristic acid (C14), which are SFAs found in varying amounts in dairy products.²⁰ There is a vast knowledge base of research conducted regarding fat consumption and CVD suggesting there may be an association between CVD and cognitive function.^{21, 22} However, there is a paucity of data available on the potential impact of SCSFA and MCSFA dietary consumption on cognitive function.

Current recommendations and studies regarding fat consumption compare total SFAs to unsaturated fatty acids. Similar to that CVD recommendations, available systematic reviews and meta-analyses have reported adverse and null associations between total SFA and cognitive function.^{5,23} This may be due to most previous studies not examining the specific chain length groups of SFAs. Although SFAs as a class of fats have been investigated concerning cognitive function and dementia, the results remain inconclusive. Our preliminary data in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL) suggests that SCSFA and MCSFAs may benefit cognitive function, as they were associated with a higher global cognitive function score. ²⁴ Of note, dairy products were the main contributor to SCSFA and MCSFA consumption among the study participants. Studies of food SCSFA and MCSFA in food sources, including dairy, have shown some benefits with cognitive outcomes, but further investigation is needed.²⁵ To our knowledge, our previous work in the HCHS/SOL is the first epidemiological study to investigate SCSFA and MCSFA in relation to cognitive function. However, these findings were cross-sectional in nature, and a prospective study design with repeated measures of diet and cognitive function was needed to replicate this novel finding.

Although few data are available, some evidence suggests that Hispanics/Latinos may be disproportionately burdened by dementia and risk factors of cognitive decline. Current research estimates that Hispanics/Latinos experience a 47% higher prevalence of dementia as compared to non-Hispanic Whites.²⁶ It has been reported that Puerto Ricans have a greater prevalence of CVD compared to Mexicans, and are just below in type 2 diabetes as compared to Mexicans, the largest group of Hispanics/Latinos living in the United States.^{27,28} Moreover, a limited number of studies have been conducted in Hispanic/Latino cohorts examining the relationship between diet and cognitive function. ^{29, 30} Additional studies examining these associations are necessary to inform culturally specific dietary recommendations and interventions to reduce the burden of cognitive decline. ^{31,32}

Considering the current evidence, we hypothesized that SMCSFA and their food source, regular and reduced-fat dairy products, would be beneficially related to cognitive functioning in Puerto Rican adults. The primary objective of this study was to examine the prospective relationship between dairy fat and dairy products with cognitive functioning over 13 years. Secondarily, we examined the associations of SMCSFA and dairy products with cognitive function cross-sectionally at baseline.

3

BACKGROUND

Public Health Relevance

According to Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System data collected between 2015 to 2017, 11.1% of Americans reported having a form of cognitive decline.³ Furthermore, dementia disproportionally affects Hispanic/Latinos residing in the United States.³ Chen and Zissimopoulous ²⁶ used the Health and Retirement Study cohort to examine associations between race and cognition. The investigators found that as of 2012, the prevalence of dementia in the Hispanic/Latino population was 16.7%, compared to that of the non-Hispanic White population with a 7.4% prevalence. From 2000 to 2012, a 25% decrease in cognitive decline prevalence was seen in both African American and non-Hispanic White respondents, but this decrease was not observed in the Hispanic/Latino population. Instead, it remained stagnant for the majority of the study.

Short and Medium Chain Saturated Fat and Risk Factors of Cognitive Decline

Dietary fat intake and its relationship with CVD have been widely investigated. According to the Guidelines set by the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) it is recommended to consume less than 10% of calories from dietary saturated fat.¹¹ In 2017, the American Heart Association (AHA) released a Presidential Advisory regarding saturated fat intake and the risk of CVD.³³ The advisory was consistent with other recommendations in that saturated fat as a whole should be replaced with unsaturated fats. The advisory addressed three specific saturated fats, lauric acid (C12), myristic acid (C14), and palmitic acid (C16). A 2017 systematic review and regression analysis published by the WHO, found that these SFA were associated with raising HDL and LDL cholesterol.³⁴ This evidence suggests that these specific SFA may have negative health impacts, but the study did not look at the SFAs with less than 12 carbons.

Emerging evidence suggests SCSFA and MCSFA may have positive impacts on cardiometabolic risk factors, including insulin resistance and inflammation.^{18,35,36} The most abundant SCSFA in the diet is butyrate (C4), which is found in milk, cheese, and yogurt.³⁷ In a recent animal RCT, sodium butyrate (NaB) was administered to mice to examine its implications on endothelial dysfunction, a major contributor to atherosclerosis.³⁵ Researchers found that mice receiving NaB decreased reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inhibitors of nitric oxide. Furthermore, mice were treated with interleukin-1 beta (IL1- β) to induce a state of inflammation and the administration of NaB downregulated ROS production in the IL1- β treated mice. An RCT out of the University of Copenhagen, analyzed the effects of MCSFA on insulin resistance in 17 men.¹⁸ The subjects either consumed a control diet (63% carbohydrate, 14% protein, and 34% fat) or one of the two experimental diets, one with a 75% increase in energy and 82% of calories derived from LCSFA. The second experimental group was similar to the first, but 5% of the LCSFA were replaced with MCSFA. The LCSFA group reduced insulin sensitivity and insulin-stimulated glucose disposal, whereas the group with 5% MCSFA did not see the same impairments. In a recent animal RCT study, it was found that a ketogenic diet (KD) containing MCSFA was negatively associated with mTOR, a regulatory pathway of insulin and insulin-like growth factors.³⁶ Research suggests that reduced mTOR activity may improve insulin sensitivity.³⁶ The KD high in MCSFA was also associated with lower levels of serum tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), an indicator of inflammation, compared to the diet groups with lower dietary MCSFA. These studies suggest the potential benefits of MCSFA as a replacement for LCSFA.

Evidence suggests there is a link between CVD and cardiometabolic risk factors with cognitive decline.³⁸ A 2017 recent systematic review and meta-analysis examined the effects of cognitive impairment and heart failure.³⁹ It was found that among the heart failure patients that were included in observational studies, approximately 40% had cognitive impairment. A separate systematic review and meta-analysis found that coronary heart disease was prospectively associated with cognitive decline or dementia.⁴⁰ A prospective study conducted in Australia, (n=77) assessed cognitive function in adults over 45 years old who had chronic heart failure class I, II, or III.⁴¹ Significant cognitive decline was observed over the two years. It is hypothesized that the link between CVD and cognitive impairment may be due to the nitric oxide (NO) pathway. NO is necessary for brain signaling and functioning. Inflammation and insulin resistance decrease endothelial cell function for these brain processes by downregulating the production of NO.⁴² Furthermore, CVD can cause detriments to the structure of the brain, including alterations to the hippocampus, as well as increased white matter lesions, cerebral infarcts, micro-bleeds, and gray matter atrophy, thus leading to cognitive impairment.^{41,43}

The relationship between CVD and cognitive function suggests there may be an association between dietary fat intake and cognitive function. At this point, the data are inconclusive due to substantial variation and heterogeneity in methodology when comparing SFAs and cognitive function.¹² A recent systematic review and meta-analysis comparing total fat, SFA, MUFA, and PUFA, found that SFAs as a whole may be associated with lower cognitive function.¹² Evidence regarding specific chain lengths of SFA implies that there may be a positive association between SCSFA and MCSFA and cognitive function.

The data are limited regarding the effects of specific chain length dietary SFA, but emerging evidence is suggesting SCSFA may be associated with improved cognition. One proposed biological mechanism of SCSFA improving cognitive function is through the inhibition of histone deacetylase. When SCSFA are absorbed into the colon, they may inhibit histone deacetylase.^{44,45} SCSFA can bind to a G protein-coupled receptor and act as a ligand, inhibiting histone deacetylase.⁴⁵ Histone acetylation is a part of gene expression during normal cognitive function, and histone deacetylase disrupts this. Histone deacetylase causes a buildup of amyloid- β plaques in the brain, which is a diagnostic criterion for Alzheimer's disease (AD).⁴⁴ The inhibition of histone deacetylase may decrease amyloid- β plaque formation and therefore may improve cognitive function. SCSFA's ability to promote histone acetylation has also been linked to anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects.⁴⁵

In a recent animal RCT, mice underwent a 12-week intervention of sodium butyrate (NaB) administration, an SCFSA, either being assigned to the control group or receiving 5mg NaB/kg/day or 15mg NaB/kg/day.⁴¹ The mice included were in an early stage of AD, characterized by the concentration of amyloid- β peptides. At the end of the study, a 40% decrease in amyloid- β peptide was observed in both experimental groups compared to the control, suggesting potential benefits of NaB on cognitive function. An earlier study in 2011 also found NaB inhibited histone deacetylase and improved cognitive decline when administered at a later stage of AD in mice.⁴⁶ Interestingly, an RCT examined mice who underwent cecal ligation and perforation surgery, which increased histone deacetylase, impairing memory and cognitive function.⁴⁷ NaB was administered and an improvement in cognition was observed. More research is needed to determine the effects of SCSFA in humans.

MCSFAs have been examined in in-vitro, animal, and experimental research. It is hypothesized that MCSFA may reduce oxidative stress, which is associated with decreased endothelial and brain cell function and cell death.⁴⁸A recent in-vitro study examined the effects

7

of MCSFA, capric acid (C10) versus a LCSFA, eicosanoid acid (C20), on oxidative stress measured through Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS), superoxide radical anion (O2⁻), and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). Researchers found that cells that received C10 significantly decreased intracellular O2⁻⁻ and H₂O₂ released, compared to cells receiving C20. O2⁻⁻ is an ROS that is released from the mitochondrial electron transport chain. The enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD1) is responsible for converting $O2^{-1}$ to H_2O_2 , which is associated with cell death. Authors suggest that C10 downregulates the conversion of O2⁺ through inhibiting SOD1 and stimulates two enzymes that detoxify H_2O_2 into water and oxygen. This would decrease the amount of ROS in cells, therefore decreasing the amount of cell death, and improving endothelial cell function. A recent RCT examined the effects of an MCSFA supplement, containing both caprylic acid (C8) and C10 in older adults (n=64) over 3 months.⁴⁹ The data suggested the MCSFA had positive impacts on cognitive function, measured by the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE). Also of note, MMSE scores decreased in the participants who took an LCSFA supplement. In an earlier RCT in elderly adults (n=38), investigators found that MCSFA in combination with the amino acid leucine and cholecalciferol, cognitive function scores measured by MMSE improved by 10.6%, compared to the diet with leucine and LCSFA, which decreased by 11.2%.50

Some evidence suggests that MCSFAs may have benefits on cognitive function due to the availability of ketones, created through ketosis. Ketones are considered the preferred energy source for the brain during times of low glucose availability, such as during a prolonged fasting period or with insulin resistance.⁵¹ In an RCT examining individuals with Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) (n=52), participants were blindly randomized into either a control group, who received a placebo, versus an experimental group who received 30 grams of a ketogenic

medium-chain triglyceride (kMCT) for 6 months.⁵¹ There was an association between the increases in plasma ketones, derived from the kMCT, and improved scores in the Trail Making Test, Verbal Fluency, and Boston Naming Test, all three tests of cognitive function. This study hypothesized that MCI may be associated with lower energy status in the brain. KMCT increased the prevalence of serum ketones, increasing the energy available to the brain in the form of ketones, as opposed to glucose. In a similar study conducted in a Japanese cohort (n=20) the participants consumed a ketogenic formula containing 20g of MSCFA, composed of both caprylic acid (C8) and capric acid (C10).⁵² Participants completed cognitive tests 120 minutes following consumption. Over 2-3 months, there were positive associations between the ketogenic MCSFA formula in working memory, short-term memory, and processing speed. In 2016, a prospective clinical intervention in a Japanese cohort (n=22) examined the impacts of Anoxa, a medical food that contains 20g of C8.⁵³ Improvements in cognitive measures were observed in patients who did not have the Apolipoprotein, a genetic trait associated with Alzheimer's disease, and a low MMSE score (>14). In 2017, this study was reanalyzed to determine which aspects of cognitive function Anoxa did impact.⁵³ Researchers found that the MCSFA supplement improved memory and orientation, but only in patients in the early stages of MCI.

Animal studies were also conducted to explore the relationship between MCSFA and cognitive function. A study was conducted on a sample of dogs because cognitive dysfunction in dogs parallels that of dementia in humans.⁵⁴ Similar to studies conducted in humans, it was found that dog's cognitive function significantly improved when given an MCSFA supplement over 90 days, measured by owners' reports of different cognitive measures, including disorientation, altered social interaction, anxiety, sleep-wake cycle disturbance, house training, learning and memory, and altered activity. In an RCT conducted on mice, C10 was associated

with improved novel object recognition.⁵⁵ From the research, MCSFA may be beneficial to cognitive function.

Dairy and Cognitive Function

Dairy is a food source containing both SCSFA and MCSFA. In one cup of whole milk, there is roughly 1 g of SCSFA and 4 g of MCSFA.²⁰ Current research on dairy intake and cognitive function is inconclusive due to varying methodology and dairy types examined. A cross-sectional study conducted using the Maine-Syracuse Longitudinal Study cohort (n=972) found that there was a linear trend between the frequency of dairy consumption and cognitive function, measured through a battery of neurocognitive tests.⁵⁶ Similarly, in an RCT comparing diets with high quantities of dairy to low quantities of dairy, investigators found that working memory via the Spatial Span Backwards test was significantly lower in those consuming the lower quantities of dairy as compared to those consuming the high dairy diet.⁵⁷ Although it seems dairy may be beneficial for cognitive function, it remains inconclusive because these studies compared total dairy to cognitive function, as opposed to low-fat dairy and high-fat dairy. In a recent cross-sectional study consisting of older Dutch adults (n=619), dietary data was collected via a 190-item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ).⁵⁸ Global cognitive function was measured through a battery of cognitive function tests and a z-score was used to calculate a compound score. It was found that there was an association between higher levels of fermented dairy products, as well as skimmed dairy with higher executive functioning scores. There were no associations observed between total dairy consumption, full-fat dairy, or non-fermented dairy. The investigators did find that fermented dairy products, including buttermilk, may be associated with higher cognitive functioning due to the lactic acid bacteria and the probiotic benefits they provide to the gut-brain axis. The skimmed dairy may have shown benefits for cognitive function because of nonfat components, including vitamin D, vitamin B-12, and calcium.⁵⁹ A recent prospective study in an elderly Japanese population (n=237) found that lower baseline intake of milk was associated with cognitive decline in men.⁶⁰ This study did not specify which fat types of milk. In a separate prospective study in a similar population of elderly Japanese men (n=1,081), the researchers found a significant inverse relationship between milk and dairy intake and cognitive function, but did not differentiate between dairy fat type.⁶¹ Over the course of 20 years, a prospective study using the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Cohort (n=13,751), an association between milk intake and cognitive decline was observed, but this study specifically examined low-fat milk and skim milk.⁶² However, a cross-sectional study conducted in a Chinese population (n=3670) found that low-fat milk was associated with higher cognitive function in women.⁶³ At this time, the data is conflicting. More research is needed to determine the effects specifically of full-fat dairy and cognitive function.

The data on cognitive function and dietary SCSFA and MCSFA are limited, especially in the Hispanic/Latino population. Our preliminary work investigated dietary fatty acids and cognitive function in the HCHS/SOL population in a cross-sectional study.²⁴ Karazurna et al found that SCSFA and MSCFA were associated with higher global cognitive function.²⁴ To our knowledge, the current study is the first to prospectively examine the impacts of SCSFA and MCSFA and specific dairy fat types on cognition in an older Puerto Rican population. Our findings present novel evidence to inform future dietary guidelines regarding dairy and specific saturated fatty acids in Hispanic/Latino adults living in the US

11

METHODS

Participants

Data were derived from the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study (BPRHS), an ongoing cohort study conducted out of the Greater Boston Area. The study aims to examine the relationship between psychosocial stress and related health outcomes, including cognitive function and depression.⁶⁴ Diet and cognitive function were measured at baseline, 2 years, and 8 years. As previously reported, participants were an average of 55 years of age and mostly female 75-78% at baseline and 13 years, respectively.⁶⁴ Participants were recruited through the 2000 US census tracker, flier distribution at local events such as fairs, or festivals, television, and radio advertisements, or by personal referral to the study. Inclusion criteria for this study included selfidentification as Puerto Rican descent in the census, the ability to answer study questions in either English or Spanish, between 45 and 75 years old, and living in the metropolitan area of Boston. Exclusion criteria included missing dietary, cognitive, or covariate data, serious health conditions in which the individual could not answer questions, the plan to move from the area within 2 years, or a score below 10 on the MMSE.⁶⁴ All participants provided written informed consent. The BPRHS was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Tufts Medical Center, Northeastern University, and the University of Massachusetts Lowell.⁶⁴

Assessment of Dietary Intake

Dietary intake was measured at baseline, 2, and 13 years by a 126-item validated semiquantitative FFQ, which included frequency and portion size questions for an extensive list of foods.⁶⁴ The questionnaire was based on the National Cancer Institute-Block FFQ and was adapted for a more accurate representation of the Puerto Rican population.⁶⁴ Food amounts were linked to the Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR), to estimate the nutrient intakes.⁶⁵

SCSFA and MCSFA were defined as those with <6 carbons and 7 to \leq 12 carbons, respectively (**Supplementary Table 1**). Dietary fatty acids were expressed as a percent of total energy. Our primary fatty acid exposure was total short and medium-chain SFA, calculated as the sum of these fatty acids per day.

Dairy products of interest included milk, yogurt, cheese, cream, and butter. One serving of milk, yogurt, cheese, cream, and butter were 1 cup, 1 cup, 2 oz, 1 tbsp, and 1 tsp, respectively. Dairy intake was estimated by merging BPRHS diet data with the NDSR nutrient database to extract servings per day of each individual food item per person. Nine food items were not available in NDSR, including vegetarian lasagna, pasta with pesto sauce, and pasta with clam sauce, amongst others. Furthermore, dairy desserts, including ice cream, frozen yogurt, pudding and others, loaded onto dairy-based dessert categories, as opposed to dairy categories. To estimate dairy in these food items, we utilized the USDA nutrient database. The USDA nutrient database provided servings/100g of milk, cheese, and yogurt per food item, which was consistent with the NDSR. However, the USDA did not provide servings of butter or cream, so this was estimated by calculating the gram amount of cream and/or butter through recipes and extracting this value from the solid fat servings from the USDA database. This gram amount was then multiplied by grams per serving to identify the number of servings of butter and cream included in each food item.

The primary dairy exposures were total dairy (milk, yogurt, cheese, butter, and cream), regular and reduced-fat dairy, and nonfat dairy. They were expressed as energy-adjusted servings

per day. Regular and reduced-fat dairy was defined as any of the previously mentioned dairy products that contained fat, including whole fat, 2%, 1%, or labeled as reduced fat. Nonfat dairy was defined as products with 0% fat or labeled as skim. Dairy exposures were expressed as energy-adjusted servings per day by dividing the total servings by total energy (kcal) and multiplying by 2000 (kcal).

Dietary Fatty Acid Pattern

We utilized the factor loading score that was consistent with high SMCSFA intake, previously derived in Karazurna et al.²⁴ This factor loading score was developed using principal component analysis with varimax rotation (proc factor in SAS). This analysis is used commonly in nutritional epidemiology to identify patterns of nutrient intake.⁶⁶ The input variables included were dietary fat represented as total fat, 26 specific fatty acids, and MUFAs from plant and animal sources, which were calculated similarly to previous studies.⁶⁷ Plant MUFAs were determined to be from fruit, vegetables, grains, and legumes. Animal MUFAs were from meat, animal fat products, and dairy products. MUFAs from food items that had both plant and animal sources, such as pizza, were calculated through recipes by calculating gram amounts of each MUFA source and determining the proportion from plants versus animals.

Neurocognitive Testing

Neurocognitive tests were administered at baseline, 2 and 13-year follow-ups. Cognitive function was measured through a battery of tests including two Word List Learning tests, Digit Span Forward and Backwards, three Stroop tests, Verbal Fluency, Clock Drawing, and Figure Copying.²⁹ Cognitive tests were conducted by trained interviewers in the language of the participant's preference (Spanish or English). The Word List Learning tests included an

immediate recall, where participants were asked to repeat a list of words that were read to them immediately prior and were given five attempts to do so. This test aimed to measure verbal memory.⁶⁸ The second component of Word List Learning was to measure retention and recognition, in which the participant identified words that were included in a previous list. Digit Span forward and backward were administered to measure attention and working memory.⁶⁸ These tests required the participant to repeat a list of numbers that were read to them in the order they were given or in reverse, respectively. There were three Stroop Tests to quantify processing speed, cognitive flexibility, and response to inhibition.⁶⁸ Stroop Tests 1 and 2 required the participant to read a list of words as fast as possible within a 45-second time frame. Stroop test 3 requires the participant to name the color of a word as fast as they can in a 45-seconds.⁶⁹ Verbal fluency tested English language fluency and executive functioning by asking the participants to name as many words as they can think of with the letter C and was repeated two more times with the letters F and L.⁶⁸ Clock drawing and figure copying both were assessing visual-spatial organization by requiring the participant to draw a clock with a specific time, and eight different figures that were described by the administrator of the test.^{70,71}

Consistent with previous studies of diet and cognitive function, we calculated a global cognitive function including the aforementioned cognitive tests.⁷² The composite score was calculated by standardizing each individual test through a *z* score transformation, and the average of these scores created the global score.^{69,72}

Covariates

Sociodemographic covariates that were collected at baseline, 2 years, and 13 years included sex (male/female)^{53,59,68,73}, age (years)^{50,59,61,64,75}, education level (< high school or high

school graduate)^{53,64}, smoking status (yes/no)^{53,59,75}, and physical activity level score^{59,68}, which was measured by a modified version of the Paffenbarger questionnaire, which calculates a score based off of all activities within the past 24 hours.⁷⁵ Clinical covariates included self-reported diabetes status (yes/no)^{53,65,66} and CVD status (yes/no).^{52,74}

Dietary covariates were considered confounding variables and to hold constant for substitution models. Potential confounding dietary covariates included total energy (kcal/day), fruit (s/day), vegetable (s/day) added sugar (%TE), MUFA (%TE), PUFA (%TE), VLCSFA (%TE) and LCSFA (%TE).⁷³ Substitution model covariates further included total carbohydrates (%TE), total fat (%TE), total protein (%TE), total alcohol (%TE), *trans* fatty acids (%TE), carbohydrates without added sugar (%TE), summed servings of grains, fruit, vegetables, animal proteins without red meat, dairy, legumes, oils, and alcohol. ⁷⁶

Statistical Analyses

Data were examined by histograms and transformation was applied when necessary. Means and proportions were used to report baseline dietary, cognitive, and demographic data. Our primary analyses were repeated-measures linear mixed-effects models fitted to assess SMCSFA and dairy intakes at baseline with 2-year and 13-year changes in overall cognitive function and individual neurocognitive tests. (n=345). We examined the prospective associations between SMCSFA and cognitive outcomes using a substitution analysis at the expense of *trans* fatty acids, holding total energy (kcal), fat(%TE), carbohydrate (%TE), protein (%TE), alcohol(%TE), LCSFA(%TE), VLCSFA(%TE), MUFA (%TE), and PUFA (%TE) intake constant, as well as adjusting for age, sex, education level, smoking status, and physical activity level. We also conducted a substitution analysis at the expense of added sugar, adjusting for all the *trans* fatty acid model covariates plus total carbohydrates minus those from added sugar, and *trans* fats. We also conducted a prospective model with the factor score loading onto SMCSFA derived from Karazurna et al.^{24.} In this model, we adjusted for age, sex, education level, and time covarying total energy, physical activity, and smoking status.

Dairy exposures were also analyzed with repeated-measured linear mixed-effects models assessing the changes from baseline to 2 and 13 years with overall cognitive function and individual neurocognitive tests. Model 1 was adjusted for age, sex, and time covarying total energy, physical activity level, smoking status, and physical activity level. Model 2 was adjusted for model 1 covariates plus time covarying fruit, vegetable, and added sugar consumption. Because of the documented effects of SMCSFA and CVD and insulin resistance on cognitive function^{39,74} we conducted a third model adjusting for CVD and diabetes status to identify potential mediation.

Secondary analyses included cross-sectional linear regression models at baseline. Similar to our prospective analyses, we conducted substitution models with SMCSFA and cognitive outcomes at the expense of *trans* fats and added sugar, as well as the SMCSFA factor loading score. We adjusted for the baseline measures of the covariates mentioned previously (n=1,292). We also examined our dairy exposures cross-sectionally, adjusting for the baseline measures for each model mentioned previously.

We conducted a variety of additional analyses. Dairy has previously been defined as milk, cheese, and yogurt, excluding dairy desserts.^{58,59,} We repeated each of our analyses with dairy defined as the sum of milk, cheese, and yogurt energy-adjusted servings per day. We also conducted a prospective substitution analysis with dairy at the expense of red and processed

meats. This was done by holding total energy, and the sum of total servings of fruit, vegetables, legumes, and animal proteins without red and processed meat, grains, and oils constant at each time point, as well as adjusting for age, sex, education level, and time covarying physical activity level and smoking status.

To adjust for multiple hypothesis testing and reduce the risk of Type 1 errors, we utilized a False Discovery Rate (FDR) to identify statistical significance. FDR corrected p-values were considered statically significant if <0.05. All analyses were conducted in SAS 9.

RESULTS

Baseline demographic and dietary data

Individuals consuming greater amounts of total, regular and nonfat dairy products were significantly older than those in the first quantile of dairy intake. Greater intakes of nonfat dairy products had significantly more female participants, fewer smokers, lower education, and lower total energy intake. (**Table 1**) Greater consumption of all three dairy exposures had greater intakes of SMCSFA and LCSFA. Higher consumption of regular/reduced fat dairy products was also consumed less VLCSFA and PUFA consumption. Participants who consumed greater amounts of SMCSFA had significantly greater total energy intake, LCSFA, and MUFA consumption. However, they had significantly less PUFA intake (**Table 2**).

Participants with greater regular/reduced fat dairy consumption consumed significantly more milk, cheese, yogurt, and cream compared to the lowest group. Participants in the highest quartile for nonfat dairy consumed significantly less butter, compared to the lowest group. (**Table 3**). Whole and 2% milk products accounted for more than 1/3 of total dairy intake in this cohort. Other top contributors to dairy intake were cheese, 1% milk products, and frozen dairy dessert products (**Table 4**). Most SMCSFA were consumed through cheese and whole milk (**Table 5**).

SMCSFA Intake & Cognitive Function

SMCSFA were trending towards beneficial associations when replacing both trans fats and added sugar related to GCS. [β (95% CI) =0.06(-0.01,0.12) ,p=0.08; β (95% CL)=0.05 (-0.01,0.19, p=0.09] cross-sectionally at baseline. FDR indicated these results were no longer

significant; however, the relationship was trending toward significance (FDR=0.07) (**Table 7**). Prospectively, there were no significant observations observed.

Dairy Intake & Cognitive Function

Total dairy and regular/reduced fat dairy were normally distributed but nonfat dairy distribution was skewed toward 0. The nonfat dairy variable was log-transformed to normalize the data; however, this did not change the results, so the original skim values were reported. Dairy components were also skewed. A log transformation was applied to milk, cheese, cream, and butter. Yogurt contained >50% of participants with 0 values, therefore yogurt was examined categorically 1) 0 s/day/2000kcal, 2) Less than the median (0.10s/day/2000kcal) or 3) greater than the median value. The mean baseline total dairy intake was 2.42 s/day, with 2.2 s/day from regular and reduced fat products and 0.20 servings from nonfat products.

Total, regular/reduced, and nonfat dairy were not significantly related to global cognitive score cross-sectionally at baseline (Table 7). However, retention was beneficially related to regular/reduced fat dairy [β (95 % CI) = 0.04 (0.002,0.08), p=0.04] but was no longer significant after FDR adjustment (FDR=0.70) Retention was also trending toward a positive significant relationship from total dairy [β (95 % CI) =0.03 (-0.004,0.07), p=0.06] (**Supplemental Table 3**). Baseline milk, cheese, cream, and butter were not significantly related to GCS at baseline. (**Table 8**) However, individuals who were consuming some yogurt, but less than the median had significant higher GCS (mean=0.13 ± 0.2) compared to group 1 (mean=0.007 ± 0.12, p<0.001) and group 3 (mean=0.03 ± 0.02,p=0.003).

When examined prospectively, no significant relationships were observed between total, regular/reduced, nonfat dairy or SMCSFA and GCS (**Table 9**) or any of the individual

neurocognitive tests (**Supplemental Table 4**). Butter was significantly related to higher GCS [β (95 % CI) =0.008 (0.008,0.02, p=0.04] and yogurt was trending toward a significant relationship [β (95 % CI)=0.01 (-0.002,0.03), p=0.07]. This was no longer significant when adjusted for multiple hypothesis testing (Table 4). We tested yogurt further as a categorical variable because of the number of participants who consumed 0 servings per day, however, these results were null. All dairy models were examined with potential mediators, CVD, and diabetes, but the results did not change.

Additional Analyses

We conducted multiple sensitivity analyses to ensure the accuracy of our results. Crosssectional analyses were run with the final sample (n=345) and total dairy was trending toward there were no significant differences from the larger sample. Results did not differ when analyzed with a standard definition of dairy, including only milk, cheese, and yogurt, and excluding dairy desserts. We examined substitution analysis for servings of dairy at the expense of servings of red and processed meat and the results were null (**Supplemental Table 5**)

DISCUSSION

In contrast to our hypothesis, SMCSFA total dairy, regular and reduced fat dairy, and nonfat dairy were not significantly associated with cognitive function over 13 years of follow-up in Puerto Rican adults living in the Boston metro area. When examining the individual dairy components prospectively, butter was significantly related to GCS, however, this relationship was attenuated when adjusted for multiple hypothesis testing. Cross-sectionally at baseline, SMCSFA were positively trending toward a significant beneficial relationship with GCS. Total, regular & reduced, and nonfat dairy were not significantly related to GCS, however, yogurt was significantly related to GCS when expressed categorically.

In the current study, results suggested that SMCSFA were positively associated with global cognitive function when substituted for an equal caloric amount of *trans* fatty acids. However, these associations were attenuated in prospective analyses with 13 years of follow-up. In a prior study conducted by Karazurna et al ²⁴ in the HCHS/SOL study, a dietary fatty acid pattern consistent with high SMCSFA consumption was beneficially associated with global cognitive function in a cross-sectional analysis amongst 8,942 Hispanic/Latino adults living in the US. A prospective analysis was not conducted in that study. Although our results are consistent with the cross-sectional analysis in the HCHS/SOL study, our longitudinal analysis does not support the benefit of dietary SMCSFA on cognitive function.

To our knowledge, this is the first prospective cohort study to examine the associations between SMCSFA and cognitive function or dementia. Our literature review identified that previous studies examining this relationship have been conducted in animals or control trials, most of which have observed positive associations between SMCSFA and cognitive function.^{24,36,46-53} We built upon this emerging evidence in examining the associations longitudinally. The cross-sectional associations observed in our study were consistent with previous research, but the null prospective relationships may be due to reverse causation. It is possible that individuals with higher cognitive function scores would be more likely to choose foods based on their nutritional health components, such as dairy, a major source of SMCSFA. Our results highlight the importance of conducting prospective studies to clarify the directionality of associations.

Regardless, there is building evidence to suggest that short and MCSFA may benefit cognitive functioning. An RCT in rats with early-stage dementia found that the administration of 15 mg/kg of body weight NaB per day for 12 weeks, compared to the control group who did not receive this, improved cognitive measures including decreased amyloid-β peptides in the brain and increased fear response.⁴⁴ A separate RCT conducted in rats with advanced dementia found significant improvements in memory when NaB was administered.⁵⁰ Similar findings have been observed in human RCTs. Ota et al ⁵² examined the effects of a 20g combination of caprylic acid and capric acid, two SFAs, on cognitive function in Japanese adults (n=20) with mild to moderate AD. Investigators found that after 8 weeks, participants improved both immediate and longer-term memory scores. After 12 weeks, investigators continued to see improvements in neurocognitive testing, including digit testing. To our knowledge, the current study is the first to examine SMCSFA prospectively.

The relationship between SMCSFA may be due to anti-inflammatory effects, as well as MCSFA's ability to synthesize ketones for energy Studies have found that MCSFA downregulates the receptor responsible for stimulating the release of inflammatory cytokines, decreasing systemic inflammation.⁷⁷ Inflammatory markers, such as IL-6 and TNF- α promote

oxidative stress and decreased endothelial cell function of the blood-brain barrier, decreasing cognitive function in the brain.⁷⁸ Furthermore, research suggests that MCSFA can improve cardiometabolic risk factors, including insulin resistance.^{79,} It is known that the brain requires energy to function, primarily glucose. During a state of insulin resistance and low glucose availability to the brain, MCSFA are absorbed into the intestines and are able to cross the blood-brain barrier, and become metabolized into ketones, an alternative source of energy for the brain.⁷⁹ It is hypothesized that the availability of the ketones from the MCSFAs to the brain may be beneficial for cognitive functioning as an energy source for cognitive functioning, especially during times of insulin resistance in the brain.⁷⁹ The documented effects of SMCSFA on the cardiometabolic risk factors may improve cognitive function.

Considering the prior evidence suggesting that SMCSFA consumption may improve cardiometabolic risk factors of cognitive decline,^{18,35,36} we additionally examined dairy consumption. Karazurna et al²⁴ reported that dairy products were the main source of SMCSFA in the diets of Hispanic/Latino adults. Prospectively, butter was beneficially related to GCS. Crosssectionally, yogurt was significantly beneficial to GCS. While FDR corrections attenuated the relationship, these results remain suggestive of a potential benefit. When compared by fat type of dairy product, there were no significant relationships observed with GCS.

Our findings contrast other observational studies that found dairy was associated with better cognitive functioning. In 2003, Yamanda et al⁸⁰ examined potential risk factors for dementia in Japanese older adults who had survived the atomic bombings in 1945 (n=1,774). Researchers reported a significant reduction in risk of Japanese older adults for dementia in participants who reported consuming milk at least 4 times per week, as compared to those who consumed less.

Similar results were observed in a separate cohort study examining milk and dairy with dementia in older Japanese adults (n=1,081) over 17 years of follow-up.⁶¹ There was a significant inverse association between milk and dairy consumption and risk of dementia. De Gogi et al ⁵⁸ found that skim dairy, fermented dairy, and buttermilk were significantly associated with higher executive functioning. Furthermore, this study found that 30g of cheese decreased the probability of low processing speeds.

Studies have also found adverse associations between dairy intake and cognitive functioning. Petruski-Ivelva et al ⁶² found that US adults who consumed greater amounts of milk were at greater risk of cognitive decline over 20 years. However, the authors note that 75% of reported milk intake was from skim milk products. Furthermore, the authors analyzed total dairy intake by race and there were no significant differences between quartiles of dairy intake in white or black Americans. A cross-sectional study examining dairy intake and cognitive function in Australian men found that whole fat cream, whole fat cheese and low-fat cheese were associated with poorer memory and an increase in cognitive failures.⁵⁷ This study was subject to confounding and recall bias. Dairy was expressed as crude servings per day, which does not account for different energy needs between different people. Non-energy-adjusted dairy variables may contribute to the deleterious effects of dairy, as higher total energy intake has previously been associated with poorer health outcomes.⁸¹ Furthermore, this study also collected cognitive data using the Cognitive Failures Questionnaire, in which participants self-reported their cognitive abilities. These methodological components may have contributed to the negative associations observed between dairy and cognitive function.

Our results are in support of recent meta-analyses and other prospectively designed studies that have found null associations between total dairy and global cognitive functioning.⁸² Kesse-Guyot et al⁷³ reported null associations between total dairy intake or individual dairy components and cognitive functioning in a cohort study of French adults (n=3,076). However, authors did identify that in women, individuals who consumed less than or greater than French Dietary Guidelines significantly decreased both working and verbal memory, as compared to individuals who are meeting the recommendations. We built upon prior studies examining the impact of dairy on cognitive function by examining these associations in a Puerto Rican adult cohort. Evidence suggests that Puerto Ricans, as compared to other Hispanic/Latino Groups, experience a higher prevalence of cognitive impairment and cardiometabolic health conditions. Collectively, our findings suggest that total dairy consumption may not affect older Puerto Rican adults.

Total dairy was not significantly related to cognitive functioning; however, butter was significantly beneficial to GCS prospectively. Although when adjusted for multiple hypotheses testing the significance was attenuating, this is still suggestive of a beneficial relationship. Butter has been controversial in its relationship to CVD, however, recent findings suggest that butter may not be detrimental to cardiovascular health. Recent evidence has found that total dairy intake, including butter, decreased risk of CVD death, cardiovascular diseases, and stroke.⁸³ Butter consumption was low, and no statistical significance was observed with butter on its own. There are very limited studies examining butter and cognitive function. In a recent prospective analysis, Granic et al⁸⁴ found that participants who consumed high amounts of butter were significantly more likely to be considered impaired, compared to those who consumed low meat, but less likely compared to those who consumed high amounts of red meat, determined through

cluster analysis. The authors did not disclose specific quantities of each food product consumed. Butter intake was not significantly associated with cognitive decline over 5 years of follow-up.

There are several reasons that may explain the null associations of SMCSFA and dairy with cognitive functioning. Cognitive decline takes time to develop and may require a longer study duration to observe the cognitive decline progression. The Alzheimer's Association suggests that the onset of dementia can vary drastically between individuals, ranging from months to years from the identification of symptoms to death from some form of cognitive impairment.⁸⁵ Some studies that have found beneficial associations have been conducted over a longer duration compared to the current study. In 2019, McEvoy et al ⁸⁶ examined the effects of the adherence to the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension, the Mediterranean Diet, or the A Priori Diet Quality Score diet at baseline age of 25 and cognitive functioning at 25- and 30-year follow-ups, utilizing the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults cohort study. Higher dietary scores were significantly associated with cognitive outcomes at 25 years. However, the cognitive change over 5 years from years 25-30 was not significant. This may indicate that a longer follow-up period is necessary to observe changes in cognitive function. A separate prospective analysis followed Finish adults over a mean of 22 years and observed a 28% reduction of risk for dementia associated with the top quartile of cheese consumption compared to the lowest.⁸⁷ This study also suggests the need for a longer follow up. In the current study, participants were followed for a mean of 12.6 ± 1.13 years. Evidence suggests that longer follow-up may be necessary to observe significant changes on cognitive function.

There may be the potential for loss to follow-up bias within our final sample. At the 13-year visit, a sub-sample of BPRHS participants (517 of 1491 at baseline) returned for dietary

assessment and cognitive testing. It is possible that individuals who were experiencing cognitive decline or developed cognitive impairment did not return for the 13-yr study visit due to the cognitive burden of the study-related activities. Participants in who did not return to the study had significantly lower GCS compared to those who did (p=0.006). Participants were significantly older (p <0.003) and had a greater prevalence of diabetes (p=0.01) (**Supplementary Table 2**). Thus, the analytical sample in the prospective analysis were healthier both with a lower prevalence of diabetes and significantly higher global cognitive score, more likely to be female, and younger as compared to those who elected to not return because of these significant differences in those who dropped out of the study. These differences may play a significant role in why null observations were observed.

There was low overall reported consumption of SMCSFA and dairy, which also may have contributed to the null associations. SMCSFA consumption in the current study was similar to the reported intake in the HCHS/SOL but may not meet a threshold amount needed to see benefits longitudinally.²⁴ In a recent RCT in young adults, participants were administered 12g or 18g of MCT for 4 weeks.⁷⁷ Cognitive function was measured through a battery of tests once per week. There was a significant improvement in both experimental groups, as compared to the control group who did not consume the MCT supplement. Participants in the current study were consuming an average of less than 1g per day of MCT. Similarly, dairy intake may have been too low to be associated with changes in cognitive function. Previous prospective studies have suggested that consuming less than the recommended daily intakes may be adversely related to cognitive functioning.⁷⁴ Furthermore, De Goeij et al⁵⁸ reported median intake of 30g/day for milk, 90g per day of yogurt, and 31g per day of total cheese when examining the cross-sectional

associations of dairy with cognitive performance. Researchers found a significant relationship between a 30g increase of cheese per day and improved processing speeds. The current study reported consuming median intakes of 0.95 servings of milk/day, 0.39 servings of cheese per day, and 0.03 servings of yogurt per day. This would be equivalent to about 232 g/day of milk, 11g/day of cheese, and about 7g/day of yogurt per day. The lower intakes of cheese and yogurt within this population may be contributing to the null results. As mentioned previously, a prospective study in Finish adults over a 22-year follow-up found that cheese intake in the top quartile (31g/day) was at a significantly decreased risk of dementia compared to the bottom quartile (0.7g/day).⁸⁷ In the current study, average dairy intake fell below the US Dietary Guidelines Recommendation of 3cups/day/2000kcal. These studies may suggest that nutrients specifically found in cheese may be beneficial for cognitive functioning, and the current cohort did not meet the threshold amount.

Although our study is one of the first to examine SMCSFA and dairy consumption and cognitive function among Hispanic/Latino adults, our sample is relatively small. Our prospective analysis was conducted in 345 Puerto Rican adult participants but may not be large enough to detect statical power. Other studies that have observed a significant relationship have been conducted in cohorts with greater than 345 participants. A prospective study conducted in 13,751 US adults between 45 and 64 years old identified a significant relationship between total milk intake and cognitive decline.⁶² Similar findings were observed in other epidemiological studies with larger samples sizes than the current study.^{73,81}

We considered the potential for differential effects among those with diabetes. Insulin resistance has been previously reported to impede cognitive function through endothelial cell

damage and decreased insulin sensitivity in the brain.⁸⁷ Previous research conducted in Puerto Ricans has found that the Mediterranean Diet may benefit cognitive function in participants with diabetes.⁸⁸ In the current study, there were no associations between SMCSFA or dairy exposures and GCS in participants who had self-reported diabetes (n=267) at any time point. This may suggest that a nondairy component of the Mediterranean diet was beneficial in improving glycemic control.

In addition to the aforementioned limitations of the study, specifically length of followup, loss to follow-up bias, the timing of dietary assessment, and sample size, there are a few additional limitations to consider. There is the potential for error in the neurocognitive testing procedure. Participants cognition may not be accurately represented due to measurement error or interviewer bias. Future studies should consider a more precise measure of brain function, such as functional magnetic resonance imaging or brain volume measurements. Diet was self-reported which may lead to measurement error if participants are not accurately representing their actual intake. However, the FFQ was validated for this population, which minimizes the misclassification bias of the exposure. Previous studies have utilized adipose tissue 15:0 and 17:0 as nutritional biomarkers for dairy intake and should be considered for future analyses.⁹⁰

There are several strengths of the current study. This study was conducted amongst Puerto Rican adults, an underrepresented group in current literature. The prospective study assessments and validation of the FFQ minimize the risk of misclassification bias. We also minimized bias by adjusting models for multiple confounding variables.

In conclusion, when accounting for multiple hypothesis testing within our study, there was no associations between SMCSFA and dairy with cognitive functioning in Puerto Rican

adults. This population is at an increased risk of developing some form of cognitive decline, potentially due to their high rates of diabetes and CVD. Longer prospective studies with larger sample sizes should be conducted within this population to determine dietary interventions that may be protective against cognitive decline.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Dementia vs. Alzheimer's: What is the difference? Available from: https://www.alz.org/alzheimers-dementia/difference-between-dementia-and-alzheimer-s
- 2. Mokdad AH, Ballestros K, Echko M, et al. The State of US Health, 1990-2016: Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Among US States. JAMA 2018;319:1444
- Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, Centers of Disease Control and Prevention 2015- 2016.
- 4. Lin P-J, Neumann PJ. The economics of mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimer's Dement* 2013;9:58-62. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2012.05.2117
- Leibson CL, Long KH, Ransom JE, et al. Direct medical costs and source of cost differences across the spectrum of cognitive decline: A population-based study. Alzheimer's Dement 2015;11:917-932.
- Alzheimer's Association. 2020 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimer's Dement* 2020.16.
- Facts and Figures. Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia. Accessed December 18, 2020. https://www.alz.org/alzheimers-dementia/facts-figures
- World Health Organization, Alzheimer's Disease International, eds. Dementia: A Public Health Priority 2012.
- Martín Lesende I, Mendibil Crespo LI, Castaño Manzanares S, et al, Functional decline and associated factors in patients with multimorbidity at 8 months of follow-up in primary care: the functionality in pluripathological patients (FUNCIPLUR) longitudinal descriptive study. *BMJ* 2018;8.

- 10. Landeiro F, Walsh K, Ghinai I, Mughal S, Nye E, Wace H, Roberts N, Lecomte P,
 Wittenberg R, Wolstenholme J, et al. Measuring quality of life of people with
 predementia and dementia and their caregivers: a systematic review protocol. *BMJ* 2018;
 8:1-5.
- Frank AP, Clegg DJ. Dietary Guidelines for Americans—Eat Less Saturated Fat. JAMA 2016;:1919-1920.
- Cao G-Y, Li M, Han L, et al. Dietary Fat Intake and Cognitive Function among Older Populations: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Prev Alzheimers Dis 2019;6:204-211.
- 13. Kohlmeier M. Fatty acids. Nutrient Metabolism: Structures, Functions, and Genes. 2nd.Ed. Elsevier Science and Technology 2015: 111-179.
- 14. Drehmer M, Pereira MA, Schmidt MI, et al. Associations of dairy intake with glycemia and insulinemia, independent of obesity, in Brazilian adults: the Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health (ELSA-Brasil). Am J Clin Nutr 2015;101:775-782.
- 15. Santaren ID, Watkins SM, Liese AD, et al. Serum pentadecanoic acid (15:0), a short-term marker of dairy food intake, is inversely associated with incident type 2 diabetes and its underlying disorders. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2014;100:1532-1540.
- 16. Drehmer M, Pereira MA, Schmidt MI, et al. Total and Full-Fat, but Not Low-Fat, Dairy Product Intakes are Inversely Associated with Metabolic Syndrome in Adults. *J Nutr* 2016;146:81-89.

- 17. Liu H, Huang J, Liu H, Li F, Peng Q, Liu C. Effects of ketogenic diet containing medium-chain fatty acids on serum inflammatory factor and mTOR signaling pathway in rats. *Chem Biol Technol Agric* 2020;7:27.
- 18. Lundsgaard A-M, Fritzen AM, Sjøberg KA, Kleinert M, Richter EA, Kiens B. Small Amounts of Dietary Medium-Chain Fatty Acids Protect Against Insulin Resistance During Caloric Excess in Humans. *Diabetes* 2021;70:91-98. doi:10.2337/db20-0582
- 19. Praagman J, Beulens JW, Alssema M, et al. The association between dietary saturated fatty acids and ischemic heart disease depends on the type and source of fatty acid in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition–Netherlands cohort. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2016;103:356-365. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.122671
- 20. Bobbo T, Penasa M, Cassandro M. Genetic Parameters of Bovine Milk Fatty Acid Profile, Yield, Composition, Total and Differential Somatic Cell Count. *Animals* 2020;10. doi:10.3390/ani10122406
- Cannon JA, Moffitt P, Perez-Moreno AC, et al. Cognitive Impairment and Heart Failure: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Card Fail* 2017;23:464-475. doi:10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.04.007
- 22. Stephan BCM, Harrison SL, Keage HAD, Babateen A, Robinson L, Siervo M. Cardiovascular Disease, the Nitric Oxide Pathway and Risk of Cognitive Impairment and Dementia. *Curr Cardiol Rep 2017*;19. doi:10.1007/s11886-017-0898-y
- Ruan Y, Tang J, Guo X, Li K, Li D. Dietary Fat Intake and Risk of Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia: A Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 2018;15:869-876. doi:10.2174/1567205015666180427142350

- 24. Karazurna NA, Porter CM, Aytur S, et al. Associations between dietary fatty acid patterns and cognitive function in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos. *Brit J Nutr.* 2021:1-35. doi:10.1017/S0007114521003275
- 25. Lee J, Fu Z, Chung M, Jang D-J, Lee H-J. Role of milk and dairy intake in cognitive function in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr J* 2018;17. doi:10.1186/s12937-018-0387-1
- 26. Chen C, Zissimopoulos JM. Racial and ethnic differences in trends in dementia prevalence and risk factors in the United States. *Alzheimer's Dement* 2018;4:510-520.
- Rodriguez Carlos J., Allison Matthew, Daviglus Martha L., et al. Status of Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke in Hispanics/Latinos in the United States. *Circulation* 2014;130:593-625.
- National Diabetes Statistics Report 2020. Estimates of diabetes and its burden in the United States. Epub 2020:1-32.
- 29. Bigornia SJ, Scott TM, Harris WS, Tucker KL. Prospective Associations of Erythrocyte Composition and Dietary Intake of n-3 and n-6 PUFA with Measures of Cognitive Function. *Nutrients* 2018;10.
- 30. Ye X, Scott T, Gao X, Maras JE, Bakun PJ, Tucker KL. Mediterranean Diet, Healthy Eating Index-2005, and Cognitive Function in Middle-Aged and Older Puerto Rican Adults. *J Acad Nutr Diet* 2013;113:276-81.
- 31. González HM, Tarraf W, Schneiderman N, Fornage M, Vásquez PM, et al. Prevalence and correlates of mild cognitive impairment among diverse Hispanics/Latinos: Study of Latinos-Investigation of Neurocognitive Aging results. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019

Dec;15(12):1507-1515. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.08.202. Epub 2019 Nov 18. PMID: 31753701; PMCID: PMC7318558.

- 32. Downer B, Garcia MA, Raji M, Markides KS. Cohort Differences in Cognitive Impairment and Cognitive Decline Among Mexican-Americans Aged 75 Years or Older. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2019;188(1):119-129. doi:10.1093/aje/kwy196
- 33. Sacks FMM, Lichtenstein AHDs, Wu JHY, et al. Dietary Fats and Cardiovascular Disease: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2017;136. doi:10.1161/CIR.0000000000000510
- 34. Mensink RP. Effects of saturated fatty acids on serum lipids and lipoproteins: a systematic review and regression analysis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 35. Tian Q, Leung FP, Chen FM, et al. Butyrate protects endothelial function through PPARδ/miR-181b signaling. *Pharmacological Research*. 2021;169:105681. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2021.105681
- 36. Liu H, Huang J, Liu H, Li F, Peng Q, Liu C. Effects of ketogenic diet containing medium-chain fatty acids on serum inflammatory factor and mTOR signaling pathways in rats. *Chem Biol Technol Agric* 2020;7:27.
- 37. Yu E, Hu FB. Dairy Products, Dairy Fatty Acids, and the Prevention of Cardiometabolic Disease: a Review of Recent Evidence. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2018;20(5):24. doi:10.1007/s11883-018-0724-z
- 38. Adams ML, Grandpre J, Katz DL, Shenson D. Cognitive Impairment and Cardiovascular Disease: A Comparison of Risk Factors, Disability, Quality of Life, and Access to Health

Care. Public Health Rep. 2020 Jan;135(1):132-140. doi: 10.1177/0033354919893030. PMID: 31835014; PMCID: PMC7119259.

- Cannon JA, Moffitt P, Perez-Moreno AC, et al. Cognitive Impairment and Heart Failure: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Card Fail* 2017;23:464-475.
- 40. Deckers K, Schievink SHJ, Rodriquez MMF, et al. Coronary heart disease and risk for cognitive impairment or dementia: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2017;12.
- 41. Stephan BCM, Harrison SL, Keage HAD, Babateen A, Robinson L, Siervo M. Cardiovascular Disease, the Nitric Oxide Pathway and Risk of Cognitive Impairment and Dementia. *Curr Cardiol Rep* 2017;19.
- 42. Steinert JR, Chernova T, Forsythe ID. Nitric Oxide Signaling in Brain Function, Dysfunction, and Dementia. *The Neuroscientist*. 2010;16(4):435-452. doi:10.1177/1073858410366481
- 43. Guan Y, Ebrahimzadeh SA, Cheng Chsin, et al. Association of Diabetes and Hypertension With Brain Structural Integrity and Cognition in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study Cohort. *Neurology*. 2022;98(15):e1534-e1544. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000200120
- 44. Fernando WMADB, Martins IJ, Morici M, et al. Sodium Butyrate Reduces Brain Amyloid-β Levels and Improves Cognitive Memory Performance in an Alzheimer's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model at an Early Disease Stage. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 2020;74:91-99. doi:10.3233/JAD-190120

- 45. Silva YP, Bernardi A, Frozza RL. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids from Gut Microbiota in Gut-Brain Communication. *Front Endocrinol* 2020;11. doi:10.3389/fendo.2020.00025
- 46. Govindarajan N, Agis-Balboa RC, Walter J, Sananbenesi F, Fischer A. Sodium Butyrate Improves Memory Function in an Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Model When Administered at an Advanced Stage of Disease Progression. *J of Alzheimer's Dis* 2011;26:187-197. doi:10.3233/JAD-2011-110080
- 47. Steckert AV, Comim CM, Igna DMD, et al. Effects of sodium butyrate on aversive memory in rats submitted to sepsis. *Neuroscience Letters*. 2015; 595:134-138. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2015.04.019
- Mett J, Müller U. The medium-chain fatty acid decanoic acid reduces oxidative stress levels in neuroblastoma cells. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):6135.. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-85523-9
- 49. Abe S, Ezaki O, Suzuki M. Medium-Chain Triglycerides (8:0 and 10:0) Increase Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) Score in Frail Elderly Adults in a Randomized Controlled Trial. J Nutr 2020;150:2383-2390. doi:10.1093/jn/nxaa186
- 50. Abe S, Ezaki O, Suzuki M. Medium-Chain Triglycerides in Combination with Leucine and Vitamin D Benefit Cognition in Frail Elderly Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 2017;63:133-140. doi:10.3177/jnsv.63.133
- 51. Fortier M, Castellano CA, Croteau E, et al. A ketogenic drink improves brain energy and some measures of cognition in mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimer's Dement* 2019; 15:625-634.

- 52. Ota M, Matsuo J, Ishida I, Takano H, Yokoi Y, Hori Hiroaki et al. Effects of a mediumchain triglyceride-based ketogenic formula on cognitive function in patients with mild-tomoderate Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 2019;690:23-236. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2018.10.048
- 53. Kimoto A, Ohnuma T, Toda A, et al. Medium-chain triglycerides given in the early stage of mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's diseasenhance memory function. *Psychogeriatrics*. 2017;17:520-521. doi:10.1111/psyg.12257
- 54. Pan Y, Landsberg G, Mougeot I, et al. Efficacy of a Therapeutic Diet on Dogs With Signs of Cognitive Dysfunction Syndrome (CDS): A Prospective Double Blinded Placebo Controlled Clinical Study. *Front Nutr* 2018;5. doi:10.3389/fnut.2018.00127
- 55. Wang D, Mitchell ES. Cognition and Synaptic-Plasticity Related Changes in Aged Rats Supplemented with 8- and 10-Carbon Medium Chain Triglycerides. *PLoS ONE* 2016;11:1-16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0160159
- 56. Crichton GE, Elias MF, Dore GA, Robbins MA. Relation between dairy food intake and cognitive function: The Maine-Syracuse Longitudinal Study. *Int Dairy J* 2012;22:15-23. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2011.08.001
- 57. Crichton GE, Murphy KJ, Bryan J. Dairy Intake and Cognitive Health in Middle-aged South Australians. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2010;19:161.
- 58. de Goeij LC, van de Rest O, Feskens EJM, de Groot LCPGM, Brouwer-Brolsma EM. Associations between the Intake of Different Types of Dairy and Cognitive Performance

in Dutch Older Adults: The B-PROOF Study. *Nutrients* 2020;12:468. doi:10.3390/nu12020468

- 59. Cuesta-Triana F, Verdejo-Bravo C, Fernández-Pérez C, Martín-Sánchez FJ. Effect of Milk and Other Dairy Products on the Risk of Frailty, Sarcopenia, and Cognitive Performance Decline in the Elderly: A Systematic Review. *Adv Nutr 2019*;10:S105-S119. doi:10.1093/advances/nmy105
- 60. Araki A, Yoshimura Y, Sakurai T, et al. Low intakes of carotene, vitamin B2, pantothenate and calcium predict cognitive decline among elderly patients with diabetes mellitus: The Japanese Elderly Diabetes Intervention Trial. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2017;17:1168-1175. doi:10.1111/ggi.12843
- 61. Ozawa M, Ohara T, Ninomiya T, et al. Milk and Dairy Consumption and Risk of Dementia in an Elderly Japanese Population: The Hisayama Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014;62:1224-1230. doi:10.1111/jgs.12887
- 62. Petruski-Ivleva N, Kucharska-Newton A, Palta P, et al. Milk Intake at Midlife and Cognitive Decline over 20 Years. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Nutrients* 2017;9. doi:10.3390/nu9101134
- 63. Chan R, Chan D, Woo J. A cross sectional study to examine the association between dietary patterns and cognitive impairment in older Chinese people in Hong Kong. J Nutr Health Aging 2013;17:757-765. doi:<u>10.1007/s12603-013-0348-5</u>
- 64. Tucker KL, Mattei J, Noel SE, et al. The Boston Puerto Rican Health Study, a longitudinal cohort study on health disparities in Puerto Rican adults: challenges and opportunities. *BMC Public Health*. 2010; 10:107.

- 65. Siega-Riz AM, Sotres-Alvarez D, Ayala GX, etal. Food-group and nutrient-density intakes by Hispanic and Latino backgrounds in the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos123. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2014;99:1487-1498.
- 66. Tucker KL, Bianchi LA, Maras J, Bermudez OI. Adaptation of a Food Frequency Questionnaire to Assess Diets of Puerto Rican and Non-Hispanic Adults. *Am J Epidemoil* 1998;148:507-518. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009676
- 67. Zong G, Li Y, Sampson L, et al. Monounsaturated fats from plant and animal sources in relation to risk of coronary heart disease among US men and women. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2018;107(3):445-453. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqx004
- 68. Artiola I, Fortuny L, Romo DH, Heaton RK, Pardee RE III. *Manual de normas y procedimientos para la bateria neuropsicologia*. Tucson, AZ: M Press; 1999.
- Boumenna T, Scott TM, Lee JS, Palacios N, Tucker KL. Folate, vitamin B-12, and cognitive function in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2020;113(1):179-186. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqaa293
- 70. Wolf-Klein GP, Silverstone FA, Levy AP, Brod MS, Breuer J. Screening for Alzheimer's disease by clock drawing. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1989;37:730–4
- Green RR, Bigler ED, Froehlich A, et al. Beery VMI performance in autism spectrum disorder. *Child Neuropsychol.* 2016;22(7):795-817. doi:10.1080/09297049.2015.1056131
- 72. Gao X, Lai CQ, Scott T, et al. Urinary 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine and cognitive function in Puerto Rican adults. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2010;172(3):271-278. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq136

- 73. Kesse-Guyot E, Assmann K, Andreeva V, Ferry M, Hercberg S, Galan P. Consumption of dairy products and cognitive functioning: Findings from the SU.VI.MAX 2 study. J *Nutr Health Aging* 2016;20:128-137. doi:10.1007/s12603-015-0593-x
- 74. Ruan Y, Tang J, Guo X, Li K, Li D. Dietary Fat Intake and Risk of Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia: A Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 2018;15:869-876. doi:10.2174/1567205015666180427142350
- 75. Loprinzi PD, Scott TM, Ikuta T, Addoh O, Tucker KL. Association of physical activity on changes in cognitive function: Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. *Phys Sportsmed* 2019;47(2):227-231. doi:10.1080/00913847.2018.1547087
- 76. Al-Shaar L, Satija A, Wang DD, et al. red meat intake and risk of coronary heart disease among US men: prospective cohort study. *BMJ*. 2020;371:m4141.
- 77. Ashton JS, Roberts JW, Wakefield CJ, et al. The effects of medium chain triglyceride (MCT) supplementation using a C₈:C₁₀ ratio of 30:70 on cognitive performance in healthy young adults. *Physiol Behav.* 2021;229:113252.
 doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113252
- 78. Buie JJ, Watson LS, Smith CJ, Sims-Robinson C. Obesity-related cognitive impairment: The role of endothelial dysfunction. *Neurobiol Dis*. 2019;132:104580. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2019.104
- 79. Roophashree PG, Shetty SS, and Kumari NS. Effect of medium chain fatty acid in human health and disease. *J Funct Foods* 2021;87:1-11.
- 80. Yamada M, Kasagi F, Sasaki H, Masunari N, Mimori Y, Suzuki G. Association between dementia and midlife risk factors: the Radiation Effects Research Foundation Adult

Health Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2003;51(3):410-414. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51117.x

- 81. Kipnis V, Freedman LS, Brown CC, Hartman AM, Schatzkin A, Wacholder S. Effect of measurement error on energy-adjustment models in nutritional epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997 ;146(10):842-55
- 82. Lee J, Fu Z, Chung M, Jang DJ, Lee HJ. Role of milk and dairy intake in cognitive function in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr J*. 2018;17(1):82.
 Published 2018 Aug 27. doi:10.1186/s12937-018-0387-1
- 83. Dehghan M, Mente A, Rangarajan S, et al. Association of dairy intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 21 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10161):2288-2297. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31812
- 84. Granic A, Davies K, Adamson A, et al. Dietary Patterns High in Red Meat, Potato,
 Gravy, and Butter Are Associated with Poor Cognitive Functioning but Not with Rate of
 Cognitive Decline in Very Old Adults. *J Nutr*. 2016;146(2):265-274.
 doi:10.3945/jn.115.216952
- 85. Stages of Alzheimer's. Alzheimer's Association . https://www.alz.org/alzheimersdementia/stages
- 86. McEvoy CT, Hoang T, Sidney S, et al. Dietary patterns during adulthood and cognitive performance in midlife: The CARDIA study. *Neurology*. 2019;92(14):e1589-e1599. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000007243

- 87. Ylilauri MPT, Hantunen S, Lönnroos E, Salonen JT, Tuomainen TP, Virtanen JK. Associations of dairy, meat, and fish intakes with risk of incident dementia and with cognitive performance: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study (KIHD). *Eur J Nutr.* 2022;61(5):2531-2542. doi:10.1007/s00394-022-02834-x
- 88. Biessels GJ, Strachan MW, Visseren FL, Kappelle LJ, Whitmer RA. Dementia and cognitive decline in type 2 diabetes and prediabetic stages: towards targeted interventions. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* 2014;2:246–255
- 89. Mattei J, Bigornia SJ, Sotos-Prieto M, Scott T, Gao X, Tucker KL. The Mediterranean Diet and 2-Year Change in Cognitive Function by Status of Type 2 Diabetes and Glycemic Control. *Diabetes Care*. 2019;42(8):1372-1379. doi:10.2337/dc19-0130
- 90. Aslibekyan S, Campos H, Baylin A. Biomarkers of dairy intake and the risk of heart disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2012;22(12):1039-1045. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2011.02.00APPENDIX

APPENDIX A

TABLES & FIGURES

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
Total Dairy (s/day)	1.08±0.06	1.86±0.06	2.54±0.06	4.35±0.03
Age (years)	55.1 ± 0.69	53.8 ± 0.69	55.6 ± 0.69	$57.3 \pm 0.69^{*}$
Female (%)	74.8	74.5	78.1	83.6
Smoker (%)	29.9	14.8	22.0	17.2
High School Education (%)	15.6	21.1	17.2	19.8
Physical Activity Level	30.8 ± 0.41	32.6 ± 0.415	31.8 ± 0.41	32.1 ± 0.42
CVD (%)	20.0	11.7	19.8	19.9
Diabetes (%)	31.0	38.2	29.8	30.5
Regular/Reduced Fat Dairy (s/day)	0.98±0.06	1.69±0.06	2.32±0.06	3.85±0.06
Age (years)	55.7 ± 0.69	53.0±0.69	55.0±0.69	$57.1 \pm 0.69*$
Female (%)	77.8	75.9	75.8	81.5
Smoker (%)	25.4	19.5	15.8	16.7
High School Education (%)	18.0	22.0	16.0	17.5
Physical Activity Level	31.1 ± 0.42	32±0.42	31.8±0.41	31.9 ± 0.42
CVD (%)	19.1	11.6	22.8	17.8
Diabetes (%)	29.4	35.5	34.1	30.5
Nonfat Dairy (s/day)	0.01±0.03	0.04±0.03	0.08±0.03	0.68±0.02
Age (years)	$53.9\pm0.70^*$	55.4 ± 0.70	56.0 ± 0.70	$56.7\pm0.7*$
Female (%)	67.8	78.2	79.0	86*
Smoker (%)	33.7	22.9	17.2	10.1**
High School Education (%)	8.34	23.9	19.1	21.9
Physical Activity Level	31.9 ± 0.42	31.8±0.41	31.3 ± 0.42	32.2 ± 0.42
CVD (%)	14.8	18.8	23.9	13.8
Diabetes (%)	22.5	33.1	37.2	36.6*
SMCSFA (%TE)	0.31 ± 0.01	0.50±0.01	0.70±0.01	1.1 ± 0.02
Age (years)	55.8 ± 0.70	54.0±0.70	55.9 ± 0.70	56.1 ± 0.70
Female (%)	76.7	80.8	75.8	77.6
Smoker (%)	23.3	22.1	18.9	19.5
High School Education (%)	13.8	21.3	20.0	18.2
Physical Activity Level	31.4±0.42	31.7±0.42	32.2±0.42	31.8±0.42
CVD (%)	19.1	14.8	20.7	16.7
Diabetes (%)	29.4	36.6	31.6	31.8

Table 1. Demographic data by dairy and SMCSFA quartile at baseline (n=345).

Trend analyses were conducted to determine statistical differences between quartiles. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full-fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products.

Nonfat dairy includes skim or 0% fat products. Dairy variables are energy adjusted servings per day and SMCSFA is expressed as a % TE. SMCSFA= short and medium chain saturated fatty acids, TE= total energy, CVD=cardiovascular disease * indicates p<0.05, ** indicates p <0.001

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
Total Dairy (s/day)				
TE (kcal/day)	2060 ± 106	2350 ± 106	2240 ± 106	2270 ± 107
SMCSFA (% TE)	0.36 ± 0.02	0.51 ± 0.02	0.73 ± 0.02	0.99 ± 0.02 **
LCSFA (% TE)	7.82 ± 0.02	8.37±0.02	9.34±0.02	10.1±0.02
VLCSFA (% TE)	9.53±0.01	8.94±0.01	8.73±0.01	8.48±0.01
MUFA (% TE)	11.1±0.02	11.2±0.02	11.2±0.02	10.8±0.02
PUFA (% TE)	9.44±0.02	8.84±0.02	8.56±0.02	7.18±0.02**
Fruit (s/day)	2.23 ± 0.17	2.24 ± 0.17	2.12 ± 0.17	2.07 ± 0.17
Vegetables (s/day)	2.10 ± 0.12	2.31 ± 0.12	2.06 ± 0.12	1.85 ± 0.10
Sugar (% TE)	9.49 ± 0.58	10.5 ± 0.58	10.7 ± 0.58	10.2 ± 0.56
Regular/Reduced Fat (s/dd	<i>ay)</i>			
TE (kcal/day)	2040 ± 107	2270 ± 107	2320 ± 106	2290 ± 107
SMCSFA (% TE)	0.33 ± 0.02	0.53 ± 0.02	0.702 ± 0.02	1.04 ± 0.02 **
LCSFA (% TE)	7.51±0.02	8.51±0.02	9.23±0.02	10.4±0.02**
VLCSFA (% TE)	9.83±0.01	8.73±0.01	8.76±0.01	8.35±0.01*
MUFA (% TE)	10.9 ± 0.02	11.2±0.02	11.2 ± 0.02	11.0±0.02
PUFA (% TE)	9.15±0.02	8.98±0.02	8.53±0.02	7.36±0.02**
Fruit (s/day)	2.34 ± 0.17	2.24 ± 0.17	2.02 ± 0.17	2.06 ± 0.17
Vegetables (s/day)	2.2 ± 0.12	2.34 ± 0.116	2.03 ± 0.114	1.75 ± 0.12
Sugar (% TE)	9.66 ± 0.57	9.66 ± 0.58	11 ± 0.571	10.6 ± 0.58
Nonfat dairy (s/day)				
TE (kcal/day)	2230 ± 106	2270 ± 107	$2320{\pm}107$	$2010 \pm 106*$
SMCSFA (% TE)	0.63 ± 0.03	0.53 ± 0.02	0.702 ± 0.02	0.61 ± 0.03
LCSFA (% TE)	9.07±0.02	8.51±0.02	9.23±0.02	8.20±0.02*
VLCSFA (% TE)	8.41±0.01	8.73±0.01	8.76±0.01	8.48 ± 0.01
MUFA (% TE)	11.3±0.02	11.2±0.02	11.2 ± 0.02	10.3±0.02**
PUFA (% TE)	8.95±0.02	8.98 ± 0.02	8.53±0.02	7.50±0.02**
Fruit (s/day)	2.09 ± 0.17	2.24 ± 0.17	2.02 ± 0.17	$2.61\pm0.17*$
Vegetables (s/day)	2.04 ± 0.12	2.34 ± 0.12	2.03 ± 0.11	$2.41 \pm 0.12*$
Sugar (% TE)	9.85 ± 0.58	9.66 ± 0.58	11.0 ± 0.57	9.23 ± 0.58
SMCSFA (%TE)				
TE (kcal/day)	1970±10.5	$2140{\pm}\ 10.5$	2430 ± 10.5	2380±10.5*
LCSFA (% TE)	7.0±0.01	8.46±0.01	9.17±0.01	11.00±0.01**
VLCSFA (% TE)	9.2±0.01	9.26±0.01	8.73±0.01	8.48 ± 0.01

Table 2. Dietary data by dairy and SMCSFA quartile at baseline (n=345).

MUFA (% TE)	10.4±0.21	11.2±0.21	11.2±0.21	11.5±0.21*	
PUFA (% TE)	8.91±0.02	9.23±0.01	8.24±0.01	764±0.02**	
Fruit (s/day)	2.54±0.17	2.0 ± 0.17	2.11±0.17	2.01±0.17	
Vegetables (s/day)	2.51±0.11	2.26±0.11	1.87 ± 0.11	1.69±0.11	
Sugar (%TE)	9.04±0.57	9.87±0.57	11.2±0.57	10.8±0.57*	

Trend analyses were conducted to determine statistical differences. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat dairy includes skim or 0% fat products. SMCSFA= short and medium chain saturated fatty acids, TE=total energy, LCSFA=long chain saturated fatty acids, VLCSFA= very-long chain saturated fatty acids, MUFA= monounsaturated fatty acids, PUFA=polyunsaturated fatty acids . * indicates p<0.05, ** indicates p<0.001

Table 3. Baseline dairy component intake by dairy quartile (n=345).

	Dairy (s/day)				
	Tota	al Dairy	Regular/Red	duced Fat Dairy	Nonfat dairy
D.:	Q1	Q4	Q1	Q4	Q1
Dairy components	1.08 ± 0.03	4.35±0.03	0.98 ± 0.03	3.98±0.03	0.01 ± 0.02
Milk (s/day)	0.43 ± 0.05	$2.55 \pm 0.05^{**}$	0.55 ± 0.05	2.31±0.05**	0.08 ± 0.06
Cheese (s/day)	0.30 ± 0.02	$0.64 \pm 0.02^{**}$	0.29 ± 0.02	0.65±0.02**	0.50 ± 0.02
Yogurt (s/day)	0.05 ± 0.01	$0.24 \pm 0.01^{**}$	0.08 ± 0.01	0.19±0.01**	0.07 ± 0.01
Cream (s/day)	0.10 ± 0.02	$0.51 \pm 0.03 **$	0.08 ± 0.03	$0.52 \pm 0.03 **$	0.29±0.03
Butter (s/day)	0.20 ± 0.02	$0.42 \pm 0.02^{**}$	0.20 ± 0.02	0.44 ± 0.02	0.36±0.02

Trend analyses were conducted to identify statistical significance between quartiles. * Indicates p < 0.05, ** indicates p < 0.001.

Table 4. Top 10 contributors to total dairy intake at baseline (n=345)	Table 4. To	10 contributors	to total dairy	' intake at baseline	(n=345).
--	-------------	-----------------	----------------	----------------------	----------

Food	% Total dairy
2% Milk	18.78
Whole milk	18.78
Cheese	16.89
1% or skim milk	9.41
Frozen dairy dessert	8.69
Yogurt	4.52
Butter	3.87
Potato dishes	3.68
Cakes and candy	2.77
Breads	1.94

Top foods were estimated by proc rank by groups of foods. Top 10 contributors were included.

Food	% Total SMCSFA
Cheese	29.94
Whole milk	22.14
2% milk	13.71
Frozen dairy dessert	7.14
Potato dishes	2.89
Yogurt	2.82
Cakes and candy	2.57
Butter	2.49
Pizza	1.83
Nuts	1.60

Table 5. Top 10 contributors to SMCSFA intake at baseline (n=345).

Top foods were estimated by proc rank by groups of foods. Top 10 contributors were included. SMCSFA=short and medium chain saturated fatty acids.

Table 6. Individual	neurocognitive	test means at	baseline	(n=345)

Test	Mean ± SE
GCS	0.12 ± 0.02
Digit Span Forward	7.60 ± 0.10
Digit Span Backward	3.60±0.07
Clock Drawing	2.21 ±0.05
Word List Learning	38.9±0.50
Retention	30.2±0.27
Recognition	84.1 ±1.37
Stroop	34.12 ± 0.08
Verbal Fluency	25.09±0.50
Figure Copying	11.22±0.36

Individual tests were z-score transformed to be standardized to create global cognitive functioning score (GCS).

	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Total Dairy	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.27
Regular/Reduced Fat Dairy	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.20
Nonfat Dairy	-0.01(-0.05, 0.04)	0.83
SMCSFA Factor Score	0.02 (-0.01,0.04)	0.23
SMCSFA Substitution Models		
trans fats	0.06(-0.01, 0.10)	0.08
Added sugar	0.105(-0.01, 0.12)	0.09

Proc reg was used to run a cross-sectional multiple linear regression model with dairy and SMCSFA with GCS at baseline. Dairy models were adjusted for age, sex, education, total energy, physical activity and smoking status at baseline and baseline intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. SMCSFA factor score was derived using Karazurna et al factor 2 score²⁴. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. This model was adjusted for age, sex, education, total energy, physical activity, and smoking status. SMCSFA substitution models were adjusted for the aforementioned covariates. Substitution at the expense of *trans* fats held all other dietary covariates constant, including total carbohydrate, total fat, total protein, total alcohol, long chain saturated fats, very-long chain saturated fats, monounsaturated fats, and polyunsaturated fats. Substitution at the expense of added sugar held the previously mentioned dietary covariates constant as well as *trans* fats and carbohydrates minus those from added sugar. There were not significant findings.

Table 8. Cross-sectional ana	lysis of dairy components y	with GCS at baseline ((n=1292).

	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Milk	0.004 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.74
Cheese	0.01(-0.01, 0.04)	0.32
Butter	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.45
Cream	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.55

Proc reg was used to run a cross-sectional multiple linear regression model with milk, cheese, butter and cream. Because of many non 0 values, yogurt was analyzed as a categorical variable, described elsewhere. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education, total energy, physical activity and smoking status at baseline, baseline intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. There were no significant relationships observed.

	Model	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Total Dairy		0.0003 (-0.002, 0.003)	0.83
Regular/Reduced Fat Dairy		0.01 (-0.002, 0.003)	0.71
Nonfat Dairy		-0.002 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.65
SMCSFA Pattern Score		0.002 (-0.002,0.01)	0.26
SMCSFA	trans fats	0.001 (-0.001, 0.004)	0.40
	Added sugar	0.001 (-0.001, 0.004)	0.39

Table 9. Prospective associations of dairy and SMCSFA with GCS (n=345).

Proc mixed was used to conduct mixed-effect models. Dairy components were estimated at baseline, 2 and 13 years. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat includes skim or 0% fat products. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education, and time covarying total energy, physical activity and smoking status, and intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. SMCSFA Pattern score was derived with factor scores derived from Karazurna et al.²⁴ The dietary pattern score models were adjusted for age, sex, education, time covarying total energy, physical activity, and smoking status. SMCSFA were also analyzed as substitution analyses at the expense of *trans* fats and added sugar. Substitution models were adjusted for total fat, total carbohydrate, and total protein. Substitution model at the expense of added sugar adjusted for *trans*-fat covariates plus *trans* fats, and carbohydrate intake minus added sugar. There were no statistically significant findings.

	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Milk	-0.002 (-0.005,0.002)	0.39
Yogurt	0.01 (-0.002,0.03)	0.07
Yogurt ^b	-0.002 (-0.008,0.003)	0.45
Yogurt ^c	0.01 (-0.001, 0.01)	0.59
Cheese	-0.002 (-0.009,0.004)	0.47
Butter	0.008 (0.0002, 0.02)	0.04
Cream	-0.001 (0.005, 0.003)	0.59

Table 10. Prospective analysis of dairy components with GCS at baseline (n=345).

Proc mixed was used to conduct mixed-effect models. Dairy components were estimated at baseline, 2 and 13 years. There were no statistically significant findings. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat includes skim or 0% fat products. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Model 1 was adjusted for age, sex, education, and time covarying total energy, physical activity and smoking status Model 2 was adjusted for model 1 covariates plus time covarying intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables.

^a analyzed as a continuous variable in using proc mixed. ^b compared high consumers of yogurt to low and non consumers. ^c compared low consumers with high and non consumers.

Supplemental Table 1	. Saturated Fatty A	Acid Chain Length	Categorization
----------------------	---------------------	-------------------	----------------

Fatty Acid Group	Individual species names (Carbon chain length)
Short chain SFA	Butyric acid (C4)
Medium-chain SFA	Caproid acid (C6), Caprylic acid (C8), Capric acid (C10), Lauric acid (C12)
Long-chain SFA	Myristic (C14), Palmitic acid (C16), Stearic acid (C18)
Very-long chain SFA	Arachidonic acid (C20), Behenic acid (C22)

Variable	Final Sample(n=345)	Lost to Follow-up (n=947)	P-value
Age	55.5±0.35	57.1±0.26	0.0003*
Sex (%)	77.8	68.3	0.0006*
GCS	0.12 ± 0.02	0.02 ± 0.02	0.006*
Total dairy (s/day)	2.42±0.06	2.52±0.04	0.21
SMCSFA (%TE)	0.65 ± 0.02	0.66 ± 0.01	0.57
Physical activity level	31.8±0.21	31.7±0.17	0.79
Education level (%)	18.3	15.7	0.24
Smoking status (%)	20	25.4	0.08
Diabetes (%)	32.4	40	0.01*
CVD (%)	17.8	21.2	0.14

Supplemental Table 2. Demographic and dietary covariates comparing participants who were in the final sample versus those who dropped out.

Proc GLM was used to determine statistical significance between group means. * Indicates p<0.05. GCS= Global Cognitive Score SMSFA= short and medium chain saturated fatty acid, TE= total energy, CVD=cardiovascular disease. * Indicates p<0.05

Supplemental Table 3. Cross-sectional associations of dairy and SMCSFA with individual neurocognitive
tests at baseline (1292).

Exposure	Test	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Total Dairy	Digit Span Forward	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.13
	Digit Span Backward	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.58
	Clock Drawing	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.42
	Word List Learning	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.31
	Retention	0.03 (-0.004, 0.07)	0.09
	Recognition	-0.003 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.87
	Stroop	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.55
	Verbal Fluency	-0.004 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.79
	Figure Copying	-0.002 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.90
Regular/Reduced Fat Dairy	Digit Span Forward	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.18
	Digit Span Backward	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.64
	Clock Drawing	0.01 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.34
	Word List Learning	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.23
	Retention	0.04 (0.002, 0.08)	0.04
	Recognition	-0.002 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.89
	Stroop	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.45
	Verbal Fluency	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.47
	Figure Copying	0.006 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.72
Nonfat Dairy	Digit Span Forward	0.02 (-0.06, 0.12)	0.52
	Digit Span Backward	0.01 (-0.07, 0.10)	0.76

Clock Drawing	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.07)	0.83
Word List Learning	-0.01 (-0.09, 0.07)	0.78
Retention	-0.02 (-0.12, 0.06)	0.62
Recognition	-0.005 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.91
Stroop	-0.01 (-0.11, 0.08)	0.79
Verbal Fluency	0.04 (-0.04, 0.13)	0.32
Figure Copying	-0.04 (-0.13, 0.04)	0.27

Proc reg was used to run a cross-sectional multiple linear regression models. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat dairy includes skim or 0% fat products. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education, total energy, physical activity and smoking status at baseline, and baseline intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. *p <0.05, however; FDR corrections were applied to adjust for multiple hypothesis testing and attenuated significant findings.

	Test	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Total Dairy	Digit Span Forward	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.004)	0.6
	Digit Span Backward	-0.003 (-0.009, 0.003)	0.31
	Clock Drawing	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.004)	0.53
	Word List Learning	0.002 (-0.005, 0.01)	0.56
	Retention	0.004 (-0.003, 0.01)	0.22
	Recognition	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.004)	0.52
	Stroop	-0.003 (-0.01, 0.004)	0.41
	Verbal Fluency	0.003 (-0.002, 0.01)	0.31
	Figure Copying	0.004 (-0.001, 0.01)	0.14
Regular/Reduced fat dairy	Digit Span Forward	-0.0001(-0.01, 0.01)	0.98
	Digit Span Backward	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.005)	0.62
	Clock Drawing	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.004)	0.51
	Word List Learning	0.002 (-0.004, 0.01)	0.5
	Retention	0.004 (-0.003, 0.01)	0.31
	Recognition	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.57
	Stroop	-0.004 (-0.01, 0.003)	0.31
	Verbal Fluency	0.01 (-0.001, 0.01)	0.1
	Figure Copying	0.01 (-0.001, 0.01)	0.12
Nonfat Dairy	Digit Span Forward	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.21
	Digit Span Backward	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.004)	0.14
	Clock Drawing	-0.0003 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.96
	Word List Learning	0.0002 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.98
	Retention	0.005 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.58
	Recognition	-0.002 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.82
	Stroop	0.00272 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.78
	Verbal Fluency	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.2

Supplemental Table 4. Prospective analysis of dairy and SMCSFA and GCS at baseline, 2 and 13 years (n=345).

Figure Copying

-0.001 (-0.01, 0.01)

0.85

Proc mixed was used to conduct mixed-effect models. Dairy components were estimated at baseline, 2 and 13 years. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat includes skim or 0% fat products. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education, and time covarying total energy, physical activity and smoking status, and intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education, total energy, physical activity and smoking status at baseline, and baseline intake of added sugar, fruit, and vegetables. *p <0.05, however; FDR corrections were applied to adjust for multiple hypothesis testing and attenuated significant findings.

Supplemental Table 5. Prospective substitution of dairy at the expense of red meat with GCS (n=345)

	β-coefficient (95% CI)	P-value
Total Dairy	0.0004 (-0.002, 0.003)	0.78
Regular/Reduced Fat Dairy	0.01 (-0.002, 0.003)	0.66
Nonfat Dairy	-0.002 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.63

Proc mixed was used to conduct mixed-effect models. Total dairy includes milk, cheese, yogurt, cream, and butter. Regular dairy includes full fat dairy products. Reduced fat includes 1% and 2% dairy products. Nonfat includes skim or 0% fat products. GCS was calculated as the composite score of individual z-score transformed cognitive tests. Models were adjusted for age, sex, education level, and time covarying smoking status, physical activity level, total servings of fruit, vegetables, grains, legumes, animal proteins, oils, and alcohol, per day. There were no statistically significant findings.